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These consolidated cases are before ne on petitions for
assessnment of civil penalty filed by the Secretary of Labor,
acting through his Mne Safety and Health Adm ni stration (MSHA),
against A d Ben Coal Conpany, Dallas T. Runyon, Janes C. Downey,
Jr., Jerry D. Csco and Irvin C. Dean pursuant to Sections 105
and 110 of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977,

30 U S.C. "" 815 and 820. The petitions allege that the conpany
viol ated Section 75.202(b) of the Secretary:s Regul ati ons,

30 CF.R " 75.202(b), that Messrs. Runyon, Downey, G sco and
Dean, as agents of the conpany, know ngly authorized, ordered or
carried out the violation, and that Dallas T. Runyon, as an agent
of the conpany, know ngly authorized, ordered or carried out two
violations of Section 75.400, 30 CF.R " 75.400. For the
reasons set forth below, | find that A d Ben did not violate
Section 75.202(b), that, therefore, the nanmed agents did not
know ngly authorize, order or carry out the violation, and that
Dallas T. Runyon did not know ngly authorize, order or carry out
the viol ations of Section 75.400.



The cases were heard June 21-23, 1995, in Logan, West
Virginia. MSHA Coal Mne Inspectors Vicki L. Mullins, Elzie
J. Burgess, Jefferson Adkins and Ernie Ross, Jr., MSHA Supervi sor
WIlliam A Blevins, MSHA Special |nvestigator Janes F. Bowran,
and m ners Garland Mahon, WIlliam M Tate, Bennie Ray Wite,
Robert Stone and George Hager testified for the Secretary. West
Virginia State M ne Inspector Lee Sipple, and A d Ben enpl oyees
Janes C. Downey, David L. Bailey, Janes A Bowers, Jr., Jerry
D. Gsco, Irvin C. Dean, Dallas Runyon and Trellis G sco
testified on behalf of the Respondents. The parties also
submtted briefs which | have considered in ny disposition of
this case.*’

Cl TATI ON NO. 3747181

The conpany is alleged, in Docket No. WEVA 93-442, 2 to have
vi ol ated Section 75.202(b) because:

Evi dence showed that enpl oyees had been wor ki ng
and traveling under unsupported roof in the Beech Creek
Belt Entry approximately between the 23 and 24
crosscuts. A fall had occured [ sic] on 4/14/93 and two
certified foreman [sic] and a crew of approximately 7
men were sent to clean up the fall. The roof fall area
was approximately 9 feet wide to approximately 20 feet
in length and the area had been cleared of rock and no
addi ti onal support was installed. The follow ng tools
and supplies were laying [ sic] under unsupported roof:

2 pieces of pinsteel, 2 pieces of top belt structure,
1 bottombelt roller, 1 air drill were approximately 8
feet outby roof support on the left rib.

! Coursek for the Respordent subn itted a n otion for leive to file a reply ard a Reply
Brief. Since there was no resporse by the Secretary, Iwill grart the n otion ard corsider the

reply.

2 The ren ainiry citations in this dock et were disposed of ina partiz I decision isued on
July 4,1994. Ol Ben Cwl Co., 16 FM SHRC 1583 (Judge Hodgdon, Ju ly 1994).



(Govt. Ex. 4.) The four individuals are alleged, in Docket Nos.
WEVA 95-18, WEVA 95-19, WEVA 95-20 and WEVA 95-21, to have
knowi ngly aut horized, ordered or carried out this violation. ®

Section 75.202(b) states that A[n]o person shall work or
travel under unsupported roof unless in accordance with this
subpart.® Wth regard to installing tenporary roof support,
Section 75.210(a), 30 U.S.C. " 75.210(a), requires Al w hen
installing tenporary support, only persons engaged in installing
t he support shall proceed beyond pernmanent support. @

The petitions, with respect to the individuals, were brought
under Section 110(c) of the Act, 30 U.S.C. " 820(c) which
provi des:

Whenever a corporate operator violates a mandatory
health or safety standard . . . any director, officer,
or agent of such corporation who know ngly authori zed,
ordered, or carried out such violation . . . shall be
subject to the sane civil penalties . . . that may be
i nposed upon a person under subsections (a) and (d).

There is no dispute that a roof fall occurred in the mne on
April 14, 1993. Thus, the issues of fact under this citation are
whet her A d Ben enpl oyees worked and travel ed under unsupported
roof and whether Jerry D. G sco and Irvin C. Dean know ngly
aut hori zed, ordered or carried out this violation.

M ner Garl and Mahon asserted that the violation did occur
and that the two forenen know ngly authorized, ordered and
carried out the violation. On the other hand, the two forenen
and two other mners who worked at the site, Wlliam M Tate and
David L. Bailey, testified that they did not go under unsupported
roof except to install tenporary roof supports. The two
i nspectors, who did not conduct their investigation until the
next day, believed that the circunstantial evidence they observed
supported M. Mhon:=s assertions, consequently they did not

% At the start of the tria I, coursel for the Secretary n oved to disn iss the petitions
corcerniry this vioktion with respect to Jan es C. Dowrey, Jr. ard Dalks T. Ruryon. There
beiry ro objection, the n otion was grarted. (Tr. L. 8) The disn issa kb will be indicated in the
order at the end of this decision.



interview any of the other wi tnesses. Based on the evidence
di scussed below, | conclude that no violation occurred.

Garl and Mahon testified that he was called to the roof fal
on the Beech Creek belt. When he arrived, he observed a

kind of an L shaped fall and it was w de at one end and
narrow at the other. It was probably ten or twelve
feet across one end and approxi mately ei ghteen feet
long, twenty feet |ong, sonmewhere in that nei ghborhood.
It was probably in the nei ghborhood of four feet thick
because it pulled four-foot bolts out and there was
sonme of those sticking up so it was slightly under four

f oot .
(Tr. 1. 109.)* He stated that Jerry Cisco was standing Afive to
ei ght feet@ away from supported roof, i.e. under unsupported
roof, when he arrived. (Tr. Il. 158.)

The m ner asserted that he observed other m ners working
under unsupported roof renoving broken rock fromthe belt and
that both G sco and Irvin Dean were present while this happened.
He stated that when he cane back fromlunch tenporary roof
supports (jacks) had been set Aon top of the belt and under the
brow of the fall on the inby side. @ (Tr. Il. 166.) He said that
he saw ten to twelve roof bolts sticking out fromthe fallen
rock. M. Mhon related that he was on the Aoutby side of the
fall,@ Aon the wal kway side of the belt, § under Athe |ast row of
support @ when he observed this. (Tr. I. 110, Tr. I1l. 165.)

Irvin Dean testified that he observed the clean-up operation
on the outby side of the fall and did not travel or work under
unsupported roof or see any other mners doing so. He stated

* There is a separate trarscript, beg inniry with page ore, for ech day of the heariny.
Corsequ ently, trarscript cites will be to ATr. 1§ ATr. 1K ard ATr. I as appropriate.



t hat he subsequently neasured the largest rock in the fall, which
fell on the beltline, and it was Aapproxi mately 28 inches thick,
four and a half foot w de, and probably six and a half foot
long. @ (Tr. 11. 131.) It had Aat |east two, maybe threef roof
bolts sticking out of it. (Tr. II. 132.)

Jerry Cisco testified that the only tinme he or anyone el se
went under unsupported roof was for Apreparations to get a jack
set and set a jack.@® (Tr. Il. 110, 112-13.) Concerning the
preparations necessary to set a jack, he stated that Athe rock
was every which way piled in there. There really was no way you
could set a jack on top of that rock to nmake it safe. So, we
cl eared out enough to set the jack to try to get the jack set on
a solid bottom@ (1d.) He said that three jacks were installed
between 11: 00 a.m and 11:20 a.m, Aone on the wal k side of the
belt, one on top of the belt and one on the off side of the
belt.§ (Tr. II. 117, 122.)

WIlliam Tate and David Bail ey gave testinony which
corroborated that given by the foremen. They stated that they
did not work under unsupported roof, nor did they see anyone
wor ki ng under unsupported roof. They agreed that three jacks
were set during the clean-up. Janes Bowers testified that two or
three jacks were set in the area when he arrived at about 4:30
p.m on the second shift to make preparations to install roof
bolts in the fall area.

It is not necessary to conclude that Garland Mahon gave
false testinony to find that no violation occurred in this
instance. |In fact, it is readily apparent that he still believes
that work was performed under unsupported roof in connection wth
the clean-up of the roof fall. Nevertheless, the other evidence
in the case undercuts the accuracy of his observations and
indicates that his belief, however well intentioned, is m staken.

As shown in his diagramof the fall, (Resp. Exs. A and B),
he apparently m stook the area of a 1978 roof fall as the area of
the one in question. The fall in 1978 covered a much | arger
area. (Resp. Ex. D.) That he was m staken as to the size of the
area in which the fall occurred is further evidenced by his
statenment that he saw 10 to 12 roof bolts sticking out of the
fallen rock. |If these bolts were on four foot centers, as he and
the other evidence in the case agree, then the fall would have
had to have been much larger than even he indicated. On the
other hand, in addition to the testinony di scussed above, West
Virginia state inspector Lee Sipple testified that the fall was
smal l er and the Secretary:s witness, WIlliam Tate, diagranmed it
as being significantly smaller that the prior roof fall.



(Resp. Ex. C)

Consequently, | conclude that the Secretary has not proven
that m ners worked or travel ed under unsupported roof in
violation of Section 75.202(b).°> In reaching this conclusion,
find, despite the testinony of Jefferson Adkins to the contrary,
that clearing a space to set up a tenporary support cones wthin
t he exception to 75.202(b) found in 75.210(a). M. Adkins could
provide no basis for his statenent that this could not be done.
Furthernore, it defies conmobn sense to separate preparing a space
for a jack frominstalling a jack and say that a person can go
under unsupported roof to do one but not the other. Manifestly,
installing tenmporary roof support includes clearing a place for
it, if necessary.

Havi ng found that the Secretary did not prove that mners
travel ed or worked under unsupported roof in violation of Section
75.202(b), | conclude that A d Ben Coal Conpany did not violate
the regulation. Since there was no violation, it necessarily
follows that Jerry G sco and Irvin Dean did not know ngly
aut hori ze, order or carry out a violation.

Cl TATI ON_NO. 3991478

°> A khough B have rot specifia lly discussed it, 1 find the irspectors testin ony to have
littke probative valbie In view of the fact that they did rot observe the scere u rtil the next
day, they only observed it fron one side, which apparertly was not the best sdde fran whid to
observe it, they did rot interview ary of the witresses except Garbhrd M ahon, they did rot
rebte what he told then , ard their evidence does rot con pletely square with his testim ony, ey .,
they only observed one jack while he said there were at least two.



Dal | as Runyon, in Docket WEVA 95-18, is charged with
know ngly authorizing, ordering or carrying out a violation of
Section 75.400° of the Secretary:s Regul ati ons on November 19,
1992. The citation alleges:

The operators cl ean-up programwas not bei ng
conplied with on the Mate Creek belt flight. Float
coal dust, neasured to be fromO to 1/4" in depth, was
deposited under the belt, in the entry, and crosscuts,
on the belt structure, crib blocks and ventilation
devices fromthe tailpiece to the drive which was
scaled to be 1950 feet in length. Wt coal fines and
coal dust that nmeasured fromO to 3 feet in depth was
all oned to accunul ate under the belt flight at
approxi mate 10 foot intervals for the length of the
belt. Loose coal and coal dust had accumul ated up to 4
feet in depth at the West Miins di scharge area and the
belt was running in the accunulations in this area.
The float coal dust was black and dry in the majority
of the area covered. The belt exam nation books
indicate that this belt flight needed clean and dusted
in every examnation entry starting 11/1/92 with no
corrective action taken to this date.

(Govt. Ex. 8.) The Respondent did not contest whether this
violation had occurred. (Tr. 1Il. 172.)

The issue with regard to this citation is whether Dall as
Runyon, the m ne superintendent, know ngly authorized, ordered or
carried out the violation. The evidence presented at the hearing
does not establish that he did.

The Secretary:s case is principally based on the Preshift-
M ne Exam ner:s Reports for Novenber 1 through 19, 1992. Al nost
every entry for the Mate Creek beltline, as well as every other
beltline, during that period indicates either that it Aneeds
cl eanf or Aclean & dust@ or Aneeds clean & dust. @ (CGovt. Ex. 9.)
In the action taken columm, it states Areported, @ with the
exception of Novenber 8, 9:00 p.m to 12:00 p.m, when it does

® This section provides that Afcha I dust, inclidiry float coa I dust deposited on roc-
dusted surfaces, loose coal, ard other con bustible n ateri ks, shall be cleared up and rot be
pem itted to acain u kte INnactive work Irys, or on electric eq Ipn ent therein.{



not say anything and Novenber 19, 12:00 a.m to 7:50 a.m, when
it states Abeing corrected. @ (Id.) Al of the reports are signed
by ADal | as Runyon@ as superintendent. (1d.) Fromthis, the
Secretary infers that AM. Runyan (sic) had actual know edge that
vi ol ati ve or hazardous accunul ations were reported to exist on
the Mate Creek belt flight for fifty consecutive shifts over a
period of eighteen days. (@ (Sec. Br. at 7.)

The Comm ssion set out the test for determ ning whether a
corporate agent has acted Aknowi ngly@ in Kenny Ri chardson, 3
FMSHRC 8, 16 (January 1981), aff:=d, 689 F.2d 623 (6th Cr. 1982),
cert. denied, 461 U S. 928 (1983) when it stated: Alf a person in
a position to protect safety and health fails to act on the basis
of information that gives himknow edge or reason to know of the
exi stence of a violative condition, he has acted knowingly and in
a manner contrary to the renedial nature of the statute. §

In Roy denn, 6 FVSHRC 1583 (July 1984), the Comm ssion
explained that this test also applies to a situation where the
violation does not exist at the tinme of the agent :s failure to
act, but occurs after the failure. It said:

Accordingly, we hold that a corporate agent in a
position to protect enployee safety and heal th has
acted >knowi ngly: in violation of Section 110(c) when,
based on the facts available to him he either knew or
had reason to know that a viol ative condition or
conduct woul d occur, but he failed to take appropriate
preventive steps.

ld. at 1586. The Conm ssion has further held, however, that to
violate Section 110(c), the corporate agent :s conduct nust be
Aaggravated, ( i.e. it nust involve nore than ordinary negligence.
Wom ng Fuel Co., 16 FMSHRC 1618, 1630 (August 1994); BethEnergy
M nes, Inc., 14 FVBHRC 1232, 1245 (August 1992); Enmery M ning
Corp., 9 FMBHRC 1997, 2003-04 (Decenber 1987).

Wth regard to the exam nation book entries, M. Runyan
testified that Al countersigned them saying that these belts were
reported to ne that they needed sonme work done. They reported
t hat they needed cleaning and dusting, or whatever. ¢ (Tr. 11
238.) Concerning the entries thenselves, he stated: At neans it
needs additional cleaning and it hasn:t been conpletely cl eaned
up.® (1d.) He further testified as foll ows:

Q Does that nean that [there] was no work bei ng done
on those belts, in your m nd?



A No, sir.
Q Wiy doesn:t that nmean that?

A. Because | knew that each shift foreman was wor ki ng
on the belts that he was assigned to, and when he got a
belt line conpletely cleaned, he would put in there,
okay. You:ll see sone of them says okay. That neans
it:s been conpletely cleaned up.

(1d.)

Third Shift foreman Trellis G sco and fire boss Benni e Ray
Wite testified that the entries in the exam nati on book were not
intended to indicate that nothing was bei ng done about cl eaning
up accumul ations along the belt line, but only that soneplace
along the belt there were accunul ations to clean up. They also
testified, as did Runyon, that a scrapper problem caused
accumul ations to occur rapidly. They agreed that M. Runyon
responded to specific reports of accumnul ati on probl ens and
requi red that cleaning be ongoing.

In a case very simlar to this one, the Conm ssion held that

a general mne foreman had know ngly authorized a violation of
Section 75.400. Prabhu Deshetty, 16 FMSHRC 1046 (May 1994).

Belt exam ners: reports for 12 of the 13 shifts preceding the
violation had stated that the No. 1 belt was Adirty(@ or Aneeded

cl eani ng@ and Deshetty testified that when he read the reports
Ahe understood that a violative or hazardous accumnul ati on was
present. @i 1d. at 1050-51. |In addition, the inspector testified
that he had di scussed the accunul ation problemw th Deshetty and
warned himthat the m ne needed to | ook nore closely at the
problem 1d. at 1051. Further, Deshetty testified that he knew
of prior accumul ation violations because of his review of the
mness citations. 1d. Consequently, the Comm ssion found that
ADeshetty ignored the specific warnings from MSHA about the |arge
nunber of accunul ation violations at the m ne and di sregarded the
repeated entries in the belt examners:=s reports indicating that
the No. 1 belt was in serious need of cleaning( and, therefore,
wi th actual know edge of the accunul ations, was |iable under
Section 110(c). Id. at 1052.

This case is distinguishable from Deshetty. M. Runyon did
not testify that he knew that violative or hazardous
accumul ations were present. In fact, fromthe way the exam ners -
reports were submtted at this mne there was no way for anyone
to determ ne what specific accunmul ations were being reported. |If

10



this were done purposely so that supervisors could say that they
were not aware of the violations, then a know ng violation may
wel | have existed. Roy denn at 1587. However, there is no

evi dence that that was the case. Rather it appears that in
Novenber 1992 the mne believed in good faith that the reports
were being submtted properly. Accordingly, | conclude that the
reports did not provide M. Runyon actual know edge of the

viol ation.’

Further, there is no evidence in this case that MSHA had
specifically warned the superintendent in particular, or the mne
operators, that they had an accunul ati on probl emthat needed
| ooking into. Nor did any of the wtnesses testify that the m ne
had a problemw th serious accunul ati ons of which M. Runyon
shoul d have been aware in the normal course of business.

| conclude that M. Runyon did not have know edge of the
accumul ations in question and that based on the way that
exam ners: reports were made at that tine there was nothing in
the reports that would have put himon notice that specific
action needed to be taken. Accordingly, | conclude that Dall as
Runyon did not know ngly authorize, order or carry out the
accumul ation violation on Novenber 19, 1992.

" There was testin ony that the n ire no lorger n akes its exan irers reports in such a
loose fashion, but states specifia lly where clearup s needed ard what corrective action 1is
beiry taken. K IS to be hoped that this s true, because the n ire supervisors shou bl row be
on notice that such reportirg will rot shield then fron persore 1 Iebility in the future.

11



Cl TATI ON_NO. 3994511

This citation was al so i ssued on Novenber 19, 1992, for a
violation of Section 75.400. 1t alleged that:

Nunmer ous piles of |oose coal and coal dust
measuring up to 20 feet in length, 10 feet in width and
3 feet in height was [sic] being stored at intermttent
| ocation [sic] in the No. 2 G apevine Mains entry. The
conbusti ble material had been scooped fromthe No. 3
belt conveyor entry to abate 104B order 3995339, dated
Nov. 17, 1992. Also several piles of |oose coal, coa
dust and float coal dust, neasuring up to 20 feet in
length, 8 feet in width and 4 feet in height was [ sic]
being stored at spot locations in roons driven |left off
G apevi ne Mains. The operator has been issued 190
violations in the past 3 years for permtting
conbusti ble material to accunulate in active workings
and on el ectrical and nobil e equi pnent.

(Govt. Ex. 13.)

The Secretary:=s evidence showed that |Inspector Millins had
i ssued a 104(b) order, 30 U S.C. " 814(b), shutting down the
No. 3 belt until the accunul ations along it had been renbved.
She had term nated the order in the early norning hours of
Novenber 19 after finding that the violation had been abat ed.
| nspector Miullins testified that when she term nated the order
she did not check any of the adjacent entries for accunul ations.

Later that norning, |Inspector Blevins discovered the

accumul ations in question.

Ceorge Hager testified that he was the foreman on the
G apevi ne section. He stated that two scoops and sone shoveling
were used to abate the 104(b) order. A small scoop was used to
cl ean under the belt and then the accumul ati ons were Ahaul ed over
to the adjacent entry and pushed against the rib to be picked up
by the larger scoop and transported to the face. @ (Tr. 1Il. 70-
71.) M. Hager related that sonetine during the process the
| arge scoop broke down and the battery had to be recharged.

12



During this tinme, the small scoop was still hauling the
accunul ations to the adjacent entry, where they remained until
the | arge scoop was back in operation and coul d begi n renoving
themto the face.

Wth regard to Dallas Runyon, M. Hager testified as
foll ows:

Q W assigned you to clean the belt?

A. Honestly I donzt knowif it was Ronal d Kennedy or
Dal | as or maybe both of themtogether. At tines we
tal ked together. Either or both.

Q D d you all discuss the manner in which to abate
Ms. Mullins= 104(b) order?

A To scoop it with the small scoop, and transport it
fromthere to the face with a | arger scoop.

Q D d you all discuss about dunping any of the
materi al scooped fromthe belt -- to dunp it in the
No. 2, in the neutral entry?

A. Yes, to transfer it fromone scoop to the other.

Q D d you discuss with Dallas Runyon the best way to
clean the belt after Inspector Miullins had issued the
104(b) order?

A. | canst exactly renenber the conversation with
Dallas or with Bo, but it was determ ned anbng us to
use the small scoop to scoop under the belt and the
| arge scoop to haul it to the face.

Q D d Dallas Runyon tell you to hide that coal ?

A He did not.

Q D d Dallas Runyon say anything to you regardi ng the

13



pl acenent of the material that was scooped fromthe
bel t ?

A.  No, other than discussing about noving fromthe
belt to the No. 2 entry and then hauling fromthere
with the larger scoop to the face.

Q D d you have any concern that the w thdrawal order
i ssued by Inspector Miullins would not be abated if the
material was left in the No. 2 entry?

A.  No | hadn=t thought about it.
(Tr. 111. 67, 69-70, 75, 82-3.)

At the close of the Secretary:s case, the Respondent noved
to dismss this charge against M. Runyon for failure to present
a prima facie case. The Secretary argued that because the
conpany had not used the snaller scoop to haul the accunul ations
to the face after the | arge scoop broke down and because
M. Runyon knew of the nethod being used to renove the
accumul ations, he know ngly authorized this violation

| granted the notion, stating:
| think a 110(c) requires a know ng violation. It

al so requi res aggravated conduct and | see no evi dence
of aggravated conduct in the evidence that :s been

presented so far. | don:t see any direct evidence that
M. Runyon even knew about the accunulations in the
No. 2 entry. . . . | don:st see any evidence that they

wer en:t doi ng what they could to renove the coal.

(Tr. 111. 89.)
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ORDER

It is ORDERED that Citation No. 3747181 in Docket No. WEVA
93-442 is VACATED and DI SM SSED and that the petitions for
assessnent of civil penalty filed against Dallas T. Runyon, Janes
C. Downey, Jerry D. Csco and Irvin C. Dean are DI SM SSED.

T. Todd Hodgdon
Adm ni strative Law Judge

Di stribution:

Javier |I. Romanach, Esq., and Panela S. Silverman, Esq., Ofice
of the Solicitor, U S. Departnent of Labor, 4015 WIson Bl vd.,
Arlington, VA 22203 (Certified Mil)

Tinmothy M Biddle, Esq., Thomas A Stock, Esq., and Lisa

A. Price, Esq., Crowell & Moring, 1001 Pennsylvania Ave., NW,
Washi ngt on, DC 20004-2505 (certified Mil)
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